2000

Joseph R. Boud v. SDNCO, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue No. 1: Whether the trial court correctly ruled that the pertinent portions of the sales brochure relating to the subject yacht cannot form enforceable express warranties under the Utah Commercial Code or the Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act where Plaintiff had demanded a trial by jury and where the ruling was based upon a motion to dismiss by Defendant KCS International, Inc., which was converted to a motion for summary judgment by the trial court.

Record Citation Showing Issue Was Preserved: Record Pages 445-449.

Issue No. 2: Whether the trial court correctly ruled that the pertinent portions of the sales brochure relating to the subject yacht lack specificity to become material to Plaintiff's purchase of the yacht and therefore cannot constitute material facts which could be negligently misrepresented in the brochure where Plaintiff had demanded a trial by jury and where the ruling was based upon a motion to dismiss by Defendant KCS International, Inc., which was converted to a motion for summary judgment by the trial court.

Record Citation Showing Issue Was Preserved: Record Pages 445-449.

Issue No. 3: Whether the trial court correctly dismissed with prejudice all of Plaintiff's claims against Defendant KCS International, Inc.

Record Citation Showing Issue Was Preserved: Record Pages 445-449.

Standard of Review for Issues Presented (Same for All Issues Presented):

In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the Supreme Court views facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party (Plaintiff). Glover v. Boy Scouts of America, 923 P.2d 1383, 1384 (Utah 1996). Rule 56(c), U.R.C.P.

Summary Judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issues of material fact exist and the moving party (Defendant KCS International, Inc) is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Glover v. Boy Scouts of America, 923 P.2d 1383, 1385 (Utah 1996). Rule 56(c), U.R.C.P.

Because entitlement to summary judgment is a question of law, the Supreme Court accords no deference to the trial court's resolution of the legal issues presented. Glover v. Boy Scouts of America, 923 P.2d 1383, 1385 (Utah 1996). Rule 56(c), U.R.C.P.

The Supreme Court determines only whether the trial court erred in applying the governing law and whether the trial court correctly held that there were no disputed issues of material fact. Glover v. Boy Scouts of America, 923 P.2d 1383, 1385 (Utah 1996). Rule 56(c), U.R.C.P.

CONTROLLING LEGAL PROVISIONS

Utah Code § 70A-2-313. Express warranties by affirmation, promise, description, sample

(1) Express warranties by the seller are created as follows:

(a) Any affirmation of fact or promise made by the seller to the buyer which relates to the goods and becomes part of the basis of the bargain creates an express warranty that the goods shall conform to the affirmation or promise.

(b) Any description of the goods which is made part of the basis of the bargain creates an express warranty that the goods shall conform to the description.

(c) Any sample or model which is made part of the basis of the bargain creates an express warranty that the whole of the goods shall conform to the sample or model.

(2) It is not necessary to the creation of an express warranty that the seller use formal words such as "warrant" or "guarantee" or that he have a specific intention to make a warranty, but an affirmation merely of the value of the goods or a statement purporting to be merely the seller's opinion or commendation of the goods does not create a warranty.

Uniform Commercial Code § 2-313. Express warranties by affirmation, promise, description, sample

Utah Code § 70A-2-313 has enacted this relevant, model section verbatim.

The text of the Official Comment to Uniform Commercial Code § 2-313 is included as "Appendix D" to the present brief.

[Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act]

Utah Code § 13-11-2. Construction and purposes of act

This act shall be construed liberally to promote the following policies:

- (1) to simplify, clarify, and modernize the law governing consumer sales practices;
 - (2) to protect consumers from suppliers who commit deceptive and unconscionable sales practices;
 - (3) to encourage the development of fair consumer sales practices;
 - (4) to make state regulation of consumer sales practices not inconsistent with the policies of the Federal Trade Commission Act relating to consumer protection;
 - (5) to make uniform the law, including the administrative rules, with respect to the subject of this act among those states which enact similar laws; and
 - (6) to recognize and protect suppliers who in good faith comply with the provisions of this act.
-

[Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act]

Utah Code § 13-11-4. Deceptive act or practice by supplier

- (1) A deceptive act or practice by a supplier in connection with a consumer transaction violates this chapter whether it occurs before, during, or after the transaction.
- (2) Without limiting the scope of Subsection (1), a supplier commits a deceptive act or practice if the supplier knowingly or intentionally:
 - (a) indicates that the subject of a consumer transaction has sponsorship, approval, performance characteristics, accessories, uses, or benefits, if it has not;
 - (b) indicates that the subject of a consumer transaction is of a particular standard, quality, grade, style, or model, if it is not;

. . . .

[Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act]

Utah Code § 13-11-5. Unconscionable act or practice by supplier

(1) An unconscionable act or practice by a supplier in connection with a consumer transaction violates this act whether it occurs before, during, or after the transaction.

(2) The unconscionability of an act or practice is a question of law for the court. If it is claimed or appears to the court that an act or practice may be unconscionable, the parties shall be given a reasonable opportunity to present evidence as to its setting, purpose, and effect to aid the court in making its determination.

(3) In determining whether an act or practice is unconscionable, the court shall consider circumstances which the supplier knew or had reason to know.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal originates from consumer claims against a retailer (SDNCO, Inc, dba Wasatch Marine) and manufacturer (KCS International, Inc., dba Cruisers Yachts) relating to the purchase of yacht costing the consumer over \$150,000.00.

This an appeal from a multiple-party and multiple claim case in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake Department, where the order appealed from (Summary Judgment for KCS International, Inc., dba Cruisers Yachts on all of Plaintiff's claims) has been certified as a final order by the trial court pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The two parties remaining in front of the trial court, after entry of the trial court's order which is the subject of this appeal, are the Plaintiff and Defendant SDNCO, Inc., doing business as Wasatch Marine. The claims remaining in front of the trial court are those of the Plaintiff against Defendant SDNCO, Inc. (including asserted violations of the Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act, breach of contract and the duty of good faith and fair dealing, various U.C.C. claims such as rejection/revocation of acceptance and unconscionability and breach of warranties, claims for negligent misrepresentation, punitive damages, and equitable relief).

Purchase of the Yacht

Plaintiff was shopping for a yacht in or about December, 1998. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 9 (Record Pages 273-274). During that time period, while at the dealership location of SDNCO, Inc. dba Wasatch Marine, a retailer for boats manufactured by KCS

International, Inc., dba Cruisers Yachts (hereinafter identified as “Cruisers Yachts”), Wasatch Marine provided Plaintiff with a 1999 sales brochure produced by Cruisers Yachts relating to its line of model year 1999 yachts. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 19 and 82 (Record Pages 275-276). Prior to entering into any agreement to purchase a 1999 model 3375 Esprit Cruisers Yacht, Plaintiff read and reviewed page thirty of the 1999 Cruisers Yacht sales brochure. Final Order, Findings of Fact, ¶ 2 (Record Page 446 and Page 2 of “**Appendix A**”). Page thirty of the 1999 Cruisers Yacht sales brochure specifically pertained to the 1999 model 3375 Esprit Cruisers Yacht. Final Order, Findings of Fact, ¶ 1 (Record Page 446, Page 2 of “**Appendix A**”, and Page 30 of “**Appendix C**”). Page thirty of the 1999 Cruisers Yacht sales brochure specifically shows a photograph of a yacht moving through the water under its own influence at, what appears to be, a good clip (Page 30 of “**Appendix C**”). Above the photograph is the designation "3375 ESPRIT." Below the photograph is language which states the following:

"Offering the best performance and cruising accommodations in its class, the 3375 Esprit offers a choice of either stern-drive or inboard power, superb handling and sleeping accommodations for six."

Final Order, Findings of Fact, ¶ 1 (Record Page 446, Page 2 of “**Appendix A**”, and Page 30 of “**Appendix C**”).

Based in part on page thirty of the 1999 Cruisers Yacht sales brochure pertaining to the 1999 model 3375 Esprit Cruisers Yacht, Plaintiff, on or about December 23, 1998, agreed to

purchase a 1999 model 3375 Esprit Cruisers Yacht from Wasatch Marine for a sum exceeding \$150,000.00. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 19, 20, 22, and 23 (Record Pages 275-276). The yacht purchased by the Plaintiff was not present at Wasatch Marine and, at the time of the transaction, it was agreed that the yacht would be provided by Wasatch Marine to Plaintiff by May 1, 1999. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 24 (Record Page 276). As part of the terms of the transaction, Plaintiff gave a \$15,000.00 check deposit to Wasatch Marine on or shortly after December 23, 1998. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 26 and 27 (Record Pages 276-277).

Problems with the Yacht

The subject yacht, when it did arrive at Wasatch Marine, was missing a power windlass order by Plaintiff. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 31 (Record Pages 277). Plaintiff was required to pay the balance of the purchase price to Wasatch Marine prior to the initial test drive of the subject yacht on Utah Lake despite an earlier promise to the contrary. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 35 and 36 (Record Page 278). During the initial test drive on Utah Lake on or about May 20, 1999, the mechanism for raising the yacht's engines malfunctioned. Specifically, the outdrives could not be raised remotely as they were designed to do. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 45 (Record Page 279). Plaintiff was subsequently informed by Wasatch Marine that the mechanical problem experienced was not minor and that all of the gears and wiring had to be replaced. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 55 (Record Page 281).

During a subsequent test of the yacht at Lake Powell at the end of May of 1999, the yacht experienced several other problems. These problems included the fact that the engines' gears

would not mesh smoothly and were very difficult to shift. Additionally, the yacht's engines became unusually hot while traveling slowly on the water and, thereafter, would overheat at a speed above an idle. Finally, the system alarm would sound and light without any apparent cause. The breakdown of the yacht, due to no fault of Plaintiff or its agents, was only thirty (30) minutes outside of Bullfrog bay and required a slow return at idle to the marina. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 62-64 (Record Page 282). Although mechanics dispatched by Wasatch Marine did appear to remedy the problem with the yacht's engines overheating, the difficulty with the gears was not fixed. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 66 (Record Page 283).

During the next test of the yacht at Lake Powell on or about June 11th and 12th of 1999, the yacht experienced several problems: 1) the gears remained difficult to shift and would not mesh smoothly; 2) the system alarm would sound at idling speed but would go silent at cruising speed; 3) the yacht's air conditioning system operated erratically and inconsistently, sometimes failing to function at all; 4) the yacht's carbon monoxide (CO) detector would sound without apparent cause; 5) the generator malfunctioned and issued a burning electrical smell followed by smoke filling the cabin; 6) the upper level dashboard screw were not screwed into any moorings and hung unconnected in their holes in the faceplate; and 7) the rear door of the yacht was misaligned and would not latch creating a hazard for the Boud family. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 70 (Record Pages 283-284). Following another repair attempt by the mechanics of Wasatch Marine at Lake Powell, Wasatch Marine called Plaintiff and represented the defects to be serious, apologized for the defects, and indicated that the defects required the return of the

yacht to Salt Lake City for repairs by Wasatch Marine. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 72-73 (Record Pages 284-285).

Legal Proceedings

Shortly after the return of the yacht to Wasatch Marine Plaintiff rejected the yacht (alternatively revoking acceptance of the yacht). 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 86, 89, and 94 (Record Pages 286-288). Plaintiff has alleged that Wasatch Marine requested a rescission or replacement product from Cruisers Yachts but that the Cruisers Yachts has refused to comply with Wasatch Marine's request. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 134 (Record Page 297). Plaintiff filed suit thereafter when Wasatch Marine also refused to void the purchase agreement of the yacht, return monies paid, and release Plaintiff from any further obligation relating to the yacht and transaction. 2nd Amended Complaint ¶ 90 (Record Page 287). Plaintiff's claims in its lawsuit included claims against the Cruisers Yachts for breach of contract/express warranty, violation of the Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act, negligent misrepresentations, equitable relief, and punitive damages. A trial by jury was demanded. See 2nd Amended Complaint (Record Pages 271 and 303).

On or about June 22, 2000, after having been served with a copy of Plaintiff's 2nd Amended Complaint, Cruisers Yachts filed a Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss (Record Pages 334-335) and supporting Memorandum (Record Pages 336-345) asserting that 1) the promotional literature (1999 Cruisers Yachts sales brochure -- particularly page 30), as a matter of law, cannot form the basis of an express warranty or negligent misrepresentation; and 2)

Plaintiff failed to allege all of the necessary elements of its claims. Plaintiff filed a timely Opposition Memorandum (Record Pages 380-397), Cruisers Yachts filed a timely Reply Memorandum (Record Pages 403-413), and the trial court heard oral argument on the Motion on September 11, 2000.

At the time of the hearing, the Court converted the Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary Judgment based upon the court's review of matters outside the pleadings, specifically the entire sales brochure. Final Order, Page 2 (Record Page 446 and Page 2 of "Appendix A"). The trial court held that the portions of the sales brochure relevant to the yacht at issue were "merely sales talk" and lacked "the specificity necessary to form the basis of an enforceable express warranty under either Utah UCC provisions or the Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act." Final Order, Conclusions of Law, ¶ 2 (Record Page 447 and Page 3 of "Appendix A"). The trial court also held that since the portions of the sales brochure relevant to the yacht at issue lacked the "specificity to create an express warranty," it also lacked the "specificity to become material to the Plaintiff's purchase" and could not therefore "constitute a material fact that could be negligently misrepresented in the brochure." Final Order, Conclusions of Law, ¶ 3 (Record Page 447 and Page 3 of "Appendix A"). As a result of its findings of fact and conclusions of law, the trial court ordered all of Plaintiff's claims against Cruisers Yachts to be dismissed with prejudice. Final Order, Order of Dismissal, ¶ 1 (Record Page 447 and Page 3 of "Appendix A"). Upon the oral request of Plaintiff's counsel made at the time of the hearing and with the concurrence of counsel for Cruisers Yachts, the Court certified the dismissal of Plaintiff's

claims against Cruisers Yachts as a final judgment pursuant to Rule 53(b), U.R.C.P. on October 17, 2000 (Record Page 447-448 and Pages 3-4 of “**Appendix A**”). A true and correct copy of the final Order entitled "FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS, ORDER OF DISMISSAL and RULE 54(b) CERTIFICATION" entered on October 17, 2000 (Record Pages 445-449), is attached as "**Appendix A**" (hereinafter identified as "Final Order"). A timely “Notice of Appeal” was filed on November 16, 2000 (Record Pages 453-454), followed by the timely filing of a “Docketing Statement” with this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. Express Warranties

Express Warranties by sellers are statutory creatures under the Uniform Commercial Code as it has been adopted in Utah. *See Utah Code § 70A-2-313*. A reasonable person standard is used to determine whether the language of a seller results in an express warranty by affirmation, promise, or description as opposed to seller's talk, opinion, or "puffery." In general, if the finder of fact determines that a reasonable person would have entered into a transaction based upon an affirmation, promise, or description, an express warranty be found.

A determination of whether a warranty exists and whether any warranty has been breached is ordinarily one for the trier of fact. Pacific Marine Schwabacher, Inc. v. Hydroswift Corp., 525 P.2d 615, 619 (Utah 1974). Plaintiff has requested a jury trial. In this matter, a jury would normally have made the decision as to whether or not Cruisers Yachts made any express warranties to Plaintiff but for the trial court's summary judgment ruling dismissing Plaintiff's claims against Cruiser's Yachts.

Because entitlement to summary judgment is a question of law, the Supreme Court accords no deference to the trial court's resolution of the legal issues presented. See Rule 56(c), U.R.C.P. and Glover v. Boy Scouts of America, 923 P.2d 1383, 1385 (Utah 1996). This Court should views the facts presented and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to Plaintiff. Id. at 1384. It is Plaintiff's assertion that, under this standard of review and the undisputed facts, a "reasonable" jury could find that Cruisers Yachts made express

warranties to Plaintiff in its promotional materials, as Plaintiff has alleged.

Plaintiff claims and has previously asserted that Cruisers Yachts, through its promotional literature, represented and described the yacht Plaintiff ultimately purchased as:

1. “*offering the best performance and cruising accommodations in its class*” and
2. providing “*superb handling*,” among other included statements.

See Cruisers Yachts Promotional Material, Page 30, attached to the present Brief as “**Appendix C.**” Additionally, these claims were positioned immediately below a photograph of the identified model of yacht Plaintiff purchased, the 3375 ESPRIT, which photograph shows the identified yacht moving at an apparently good rate of speed, as evidenced by the displaced water, spray, and the levitated prow (forepart) of the yacht. (Page 30 of “**Appendix C**”).

Express Warranty Analysis

1. “*Affirmation of Fact or Promise*” or “*Description of the Goods*” versus “*Puffing*”

In State By and Through Div. of Consumer Protection v. GAF Corp., 760 P.2d 310, 315 (Utah 1988), this Court (quoting in part 3 R. Anderson, *Anderson on the Uniform Commercial Code*, § 2-313:50, at 44 (3d ed. 1983)) stated,

“An affirmation of fact, a promise, or a description of the goods must be judged objectively against the meaning that a reasonable person would have taken from the statement . . . In determining reasonableness, a court should consider such factors, among others, as ‘(1) the ability of the buyer to see and understand for himself, (2) the vagueness of the statement, and (3) the incredibility of the statement.’”

(Underline Emphasis Added)

The determination of whether or not statements and the Photo in Cruisers Yachts

promotional materials potentially qualify as enforceable warranties is the issue upon which the present appeal is primarily based. The trial court, under its Final Order, Conclusions of Law, ¶ 2-3 (Record Page 447 and Page 3 of “**Appendix A**”), stated that:

“ 2. The Court concludes that the referenced portion of the sales brochure is merely sales talk and lacks the specificity necessary to form the basis of an enforceable express warranty under either the Utah UCC provisions or the Utah Consumer Sales Practices Act.

3. The Court concludes that since the referenced portion of the sales brochure lacks specificity to create an express warranty, it also lacks specificity to become material to the Plaintiff’s purchase and cannot therefore constitute a material fact that could be negligently misrepresented in the brochure.”

(Record Page 447). While the focus of the claims for express warranty in Cruisers Yachts promotional brochure is directed to Page 30 of the brochure (which brochure is attached as “**Appendix C**”), it should be clear that the trial court specifically considered “*the entire sales brochure*” in making its ruling. (Record Page 446; Final Order, Page 2 of “**Appendix A**”).

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