2000

Joseph R. Boud, Trustee of the Diane Mansell  
Boud Revocable Trust, v. SDNCO, inc. dba  
Wasatch Marine, and KCS International Inc., dba  
Cruisers Yachts : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

*1. Plaintiff Boud had ample “ability to see and understand for himself” the meaning of the brochure language.*

The first factor in the *GAF* test asks whether the buyer had “the ability to see and understand for himself.” 760 P.2d at 315. In this case, Plaintiff Boud had the ability to see and understand for himself. In addition to being an experienced buyer of multiple boats,

Boud had previously been a customer of Wasatch Marine. (R. 64, 273) In fact, Boud's experience level was such that he insisted on test driving the boat in this case before consummating the purchase. (R. 66, 276) The fact that he subsequently abandoned this condition can not be held against Defendant KCS, since Boud makes no such claim. Boud clearly knew the world of boat purchases and had the experience and ability to evaluate the statements in the sales brochure for himself.

*2. The trial court correctly ruled that the language and photograph of the sales brochure were too vague to form an express warranty.*

The second *GAF* factor evaluates the "vagueness of the statement." 760 P.2d at 315. Plaintiff Boud urges that such language is specific, but fails to cite any case law where guidelines are given to determine such specificity. In fact, examination of the relevant cases supports the trial court's conclusion that the language of the brochure was not specific enough to create an express warranty. Few Utah case have addressed "sales talk" in the creation of an express warranty but those that have, as well as cases from other jurisdictions, demonstrate that a much higher degree of specificity is required than was present in KCS's sales brochure to create an express warranty.

In *Hirschberg Optical*, the territorial court first recognized the existence of "sales talk" when it reversed the trial court's judgment against an optical supplier. *Hirschberg Optical v. Dalton, Nye & Cannon Co.*, 27 P. 83 (Utah 1891). The court observed:

'The general praise of his own wares by a seller, commonly called "puffing," for the purpose of enhancing them in the buyer's estimation, has always been allowed, provided that it is kept within reasonable bounds; that is, provided the praise is

general, and the language is not a positive affirmation of a specific fact affecting the quality, so as to be an express warranty, and is not the intentional assertion of a specific and material fact known to the party to be false, so as to be a fraudulent representation.’

27 P. at 83.

The sales talk exception provision of former Utah Code § 81-1-12 (1943) was cited in *Park v. Moorman Mfg. Co.*, 241 P.2d 914 (Utah 1952), where the court reviewed, in part, statements by a feed company salesman to the plaintiff. The court held that the salesman’s statements that a certain brand of feed and self-feeding system “was equal or superior to any feeding method then in use,” “that great time and effort would be saved under the self-feeding plan” and “would be less expensive than the plan then being used by [plaintiff]” “were a matter of puffing or sales talk and not statements of ‘fact’ or ‘promise’ as contemplated by section 81-1-12.” 241 P.2d at 916-17. However, the court did hold that the salesman’s statement that “a minimum egg yield of 65%” could be expected using a particular type of feed was held to be an express warranty. *Id.* at 917-18.

More recently in *State v. GAF* the Utah Supreme Court held that a claim sufficient to survive a motion for summary judgment was made out because a manufacturer’s promotional literature may have created an express warranty. The literature stated that a certain type of shingle roof was “a 25-year roof” and that the shingle was a “top-of-the-line, high quality, self-sealing shingle with a product life of at least 25 years.” 760 P.2d at 312-13.

In both *Park* and *GAF*, specific claims were made—in *Park* that at least 65% egg production could be expected and in *GAF* that the product was self sealing and would last

at least 25 years. These specific claims about the products in those cases created express warranties. When the claims are more general or vague, no such warranty is created.

Such was the result in *Moore v. Sanchez*, 313 P.2d 461, 464 (Utah 1957), where the plaintiff's salesmen made "various laudatory representations about the excellence of the stock, and what a bargain it was at the price offered." In holding that these statements were nothing more than "puffing" the court stated:

It is hardly to be expected that they would give the defendants the benefit of a wholly unbiased and critical appraisal of their wares. Such is not wont of those who have something to sell, a fact well known since the memory of man runneth not to the contrary, and which gives rise to one of the best known maxims of the law: "caveat emptor," which is applicable here. Moreover, . . . the extolling of the virtues of their products does not go beyond what is reasonably expected in such transactions and is properly classified as sales "puffing" and not as warranties of quality.

*Moore*, 313 P.2d at 464.

These cases, with *Hirschberg Optical*, demonstrate that the Utah courts have consistently required that sales language must be sufficiently specific and capable of precise interpretation to create an express warranty. The imprecise brochure language here is sales talk containing obviously general comparisons and/or commendations of KCS's product.<sup>5</sup> It is impossible to see how the language "best performance and cruising accommodations in its class" and "superb handling" is sufficiently specific to create an express warranty. In comparison to *Park* and *GAF*, where specific figures and claims about the products were

---

<sup>5</sup> As noted in the Facts, above, Mr. Boud, in his Memorandum Opposing the Motion to Dismiss filed below, included the claim that the dealer warranted the boat would plane at 20 mph, which it did at the Utah Lake test cruise. In his brief, Boud does not mention this issue.



made, no such specific claims were made in the KCS sales brochure. Rather, the language in the brochure are the “various laudatory representations” which the *Moore* court characterized as “puffing.” Opinions from other states confirm this conclusion.

This theme of specificity required to create an express warranty is also found in cases from other jurisdictions, some cited by Boud. The Missouri Court of Appeals has stated that “Representations of fact capable of determination are warranties, but mere expressions of opinion, belief, judgment or estimate by a dealer in sales talk are not.” *Interco, Inc., v. Randustrial Corp.*, 533 S.W.2d 257, 263 (Mo. Ct. App. 1976) (citation omitted). The Tenth Circuit has stated “the more specific the statement, the more likely it constitutes a warranty.” *Downie v. Abex Corp.*, 741 F.2d 1235, 1240 (10th Cir. 1984) (citation omitted). The Washington Supreme Court stated that “more general statements such as . . . a Honda bike is a good one for children are seller's opinion or commendation rather than affirmations of fact.” *Federal Signal v. Safety Factors*, 886 P.2d 172, 179 (Wash. 1994) (citation omitted).

Cases not cited by Boud provide even more illumination on the requirement of specificity. As the Utah Supreme Court relied on a Texas case in *GAF*, 760 P.2d at 315, Texas cases may also be helpful here. In *Autohaus, Inc. v. Aguilar*, 794 SW.2d 459 (Tex. Ct. App. 1990), the plaintiff purchased a Mercedes Benz after a salesman told him that it was “the best engineered car in the world” and that it was “a far superior product” to what the plaintiff had in the past. 794 S.W.2d at 460-61. Reviewing the trial court’s finding that such statements constituted an express warranty, the Texas appeals court considered at length the defense of sales talk/puffing. With citations to other cases, the court listed various aspects

of this defense that are applicable here.

First, “One consideration in determining whether a statement is puffing or opinion is the specificity of the statement. Imprecise or vague representations constitute mere opinions.” *Id.* at 462. Second, while another factor is “the levels of the knowledge of the buyer and seller,” *Id.* at 463, the court noted that “the initial determination must be whether the statement made is specific enough to be an actionable misrepresentation.” *Id.* at 464. Third, “a general statement concerning a future event should be looked at differently than a statement concerning a past or present event or condition, especially when examining the specificity of a statement involving the future performance of a car.” *Id.* at 464. Finally, the Texas court noted that “statements that compare one product to another and claim superiority are not actionable misrepresentations.” *Id.* Applying these principles to the salesman’s statements, the appellate court held the statements did not constitute an express warranty and reversed the trial court’s judgment. *Id.* at 465.

In *Roxalana Hills, Ltd. v. Masonite Corp.*, 627 F.Supp 1194, 1200-01 (S.D. W.Va. 1986), *aff’d without opinion*, 813 F.2d 1228 (4th Cir. 1987), the plaintiff sued, among others, the manufacturer of siding materials, claiming in part that the manufacturer’s advertising pamphlet created an express warranty by the statement that the material was “specifically formulated” “to provide durability and weatherability.” *Id.* The trial court granted the manufacturer’s motion for judgment on the pleadings, holding that “the statement relates to the value of the product and falls short of the factual affirmation or description which forms the basis of the bargain.” *Id.*

One of the most succinct explanations of the difference between sales talk and language that create warranties was offered by the Kansas Supreme Court in *Young & Cooper, Inc. v. Vestring*, 521 P.2d 281, 290 (Kan. 1974):

[R]epresentations of fact capable of determination are warranties, but mere expressions of opinion, belief, judgment or estimate by a dealer in sales talk are not. Where opinions are coupled with representations of fact which relate to such matters and are susceptible of exact knowledge, they constitute more than a mere opinion and are properly regarded as representations of fact, and, to the extent that they are representations of fact, they constitute warranties.

This definition was referred to in *Chase Resorts, Inc. v. Johns-Manville Corp.*, 476 F.Supp 633 (E.D. Mo. 1979), where the plaintiff claimed, in part, that the defendant's catalog created an express warranty. It described the golf course sprinkler equipment sold to plaintiff as "water and lightning protected" and that it "would provide years of trouble free service." When the system was rendered inoperable by lightning, plaintiff was not satisfied with the manufacturer's limited warranty and sued. Citing *Young & Cooper*, the court granted the defendant summary judgment, observing, "How many years of trouble free performance and what constitutes trouble free performance are at least two questions relating to these opinions which are not susceptible of exact knowledge and are not properly regarded as representations of fact." *Id.* at 638.

The common theme in all of these cases is that general or vague statements which merely are "various laudatory representations" of the product are not sufficient to create an express warranty. If anything, the representation in the KCS sales brochure that the 3375

Esprit “offer[ed] outstanding performance” and “superb handling” are less specific than the claims made in *Autohaus, Inc.* (“the best engineered car in the world” and “a far superior product”), *Roxalana Hills, Ltd.* (product was “specifically formulated . . .to provide durability and weatherability”), and *Chase Resort Inc.* (sprinkler equipment was “water and lightning protected” and “would provide years of trouble free service”). Arguably the statements in *Roxalana Hills, Ltd.* and *Chase Resorts Inc.* are far more specific in that they indicate certain quantifiable characteristics about the products in those cases. Yet, in all three cases the courts held that the statements in question did not create express warranties. If those more specific statements were insufficient to create express warranties, then plainly the general statements in the KCS brochure were not enough to create an express warranty here.

Boud cites the Utah Territorial Supreme Court’s opinion in *Hirschberg Optical Co. v. Dalton, Nye & Cannon Co.* for the proposition that sales opinion must be labeled as such. That is simply not the law. As one authority explains:

[T]here should be no magic because the prefatory words “In my opinion . . .” are or are not used if the circumstances indicated clearly that a real statement of opinion or fact has, or has not, been made. There are some statements, for example, that are by their nature so dependent on personal opinion that no reasonable person would regard them as statements of fact even though asserted positively. Such statements do not become express warranties.

1 William D. Hawkland, *Uniform Commercial Code Series*, § 2-313:3 at 2-544 (1998). In short, labeling a statement as an opinion neither adds to nor subtracts from the statement.

While Boud avoids addressing the factors identified by the court in *GAF* and used by the trial court to conclude that no express warranty was created here, his brief provides a

smattering of quotes from cases from around the country to create a patchwork of “factors” that have never been suggested or mentioned in any Utah case. These cases offer little guidance to this Court in determining whether the brochure language and photograph have the requisite specificity to create a specific warranty. None of these cases recite facts or state any law that, when applied to the facts here, would suggest a different outcome.

*3. The claims made in the sales brochure were incredible enough to require Boud to obtain verification.*

The third part of the *GAF* test for reasonableness examines the incredibility of the statements in the promotional materials. 760 P.2d at 315. The court provides no guidance on how this examination should be conducted. However, KCS contends that, given Boud’s level of expertise in the purchase of boats and the nature of the statements, a reasonable person similarly situated would recognize the statements as mere sales talk and seek to test the Boud himself before buying, as Boud initially insisted.

The broad representations which Boud claims is a warranty concern the quality of the boat. In commenting on the trustworthiness of such representations, one authority has stated:

The rule that the seller is bound by false representations as to the nature of the goods contained in advertising material which has become part of the inducement of the contract, is limited to representations of fact, and does not include mere statements of opinion as to the nature or quality of the property. It is especially important that this should be the rule as to representations of the quality of goods sold, for there is nothing on which people are more apt to differ, and nothing on which they are less apt to trust each other.

3 R. Anderson, *Anderson on the Uniform Commercial Code*, § 2-313:114 at 86 (3d ed. 1995) (citations omitted). A reasonable person obviously would have taken the brochure's

statements in the same vein as most other general statements of product quality—with a grain of salt.

The trial court was correct in concluding that the language and photograph in the sales brochure were not specific enough to create an express warranty. While the trial court did not specifically refer to the framework provided by the court in *GAF* to conduct its analysis, that framework was what the trial court in essence used. The detailed analysis set out above demonstrated the soundness of the trial court’s conclusion.

B. The brochure language is not part of the Plaintiff’s bargain.

UCC Section 2-313 also requires that for statements made by the seller to become an express warranty, those statements must become part of the basis of the bargain. The trial court did not rely on this factor to reach its decision but this does provide an alternative grounds to affirm the trial court’s conclusion. The language of KCS’s sales brochure was so general that a myriad of interpretations are possible. Because of the wide variety of potential interpretations, there is simply no possibility that the language or photograph could be part of the basis of the bargain.

For example, with regard to the language the boat “offer[ed] the best performance in its class,” Mr. Boud has not attempted to define the class of boats (is it the size class, price class, equipment class, color class, accommodations class, or country of manufacture class?) referred to in the Esprit 3375 brochure, much less make any specific, detailed comparisons with other boats that could possibly be in such a class in an attempt to show this alleged

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